IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 22-0668

---

STATE OF MONTANA,  
Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

NICHOLOS ADAMS WELLS,  
Defendant and Appellant.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

On Appeal from the Montana Eighth Judicial District Court,  
Cascade County, , the Honorable David J.. Grubich Presiding.

APPEARANCES:

GREGORY E. PASKELL  
Attorney at Law  
21500 Cypress Way Ste. C  
Lynnwood, Washington, 98036  
Cell: 406-250-6917  
[gpaskell2@gmail.com](mailto:gpaskell2@gmail.com)

AUSTIN KNUDSEN  
Montana Attorney General  
TAMMY K. PLUBELL  
Bureau Chief  
Appellate Services Bureau  
215 North Sanders  
P.O. Box 201 401  
Helena, Mt. 59620-1401

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

**ISSUE: 1.** Is the Court's adoption of condition #26, as written, allowing for "the search of electronic devices, to include cell phone, personal computer and social media, if reasonable suspicion exists to believe that the Appellant has contacted his victim is an overboard and unconstitutional violation of the Appellant's rights against unreasonable searches and seizures.

**ISSUE: 2.** Does ordering the Appellant in condition number 27 to participate in a specifically named program that may or may not be available to the Appellant subject the Appellant to a condition that is over broad and lacking a specific nexus to the Appellant.

**ISSUE: 3.** Does the adoption by the Court of condition number 28 that requires the Appellant to sign an Intimate Partner Disclosure and a n Offensive Contact Contract disclosure violate the Appellant's constitutional right to freedom of association and by its very nature is overbroad and illegal and for its lack of nexus as required by state law?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Prior to the entry of a plea agreement, the Appellant was charged by Information, with one count Strangulation of a Partner or Family Member, a felony and one count of Partner or Family Member Assault (3rd or Subsequent Offense, a felony, (D.C. Doc. 3)

The appellant entered into a plea agreement and subsequently plead guilty to PARTNER OR FAMILY MEMBER ASSAULT (3<sup>rd</sup> or SUBSEQUENT OFFENSE), Felony. (D.C. Doc. 18)

A sentencing hearing was held where defense counsel objected to 4 conditions of the suspended sentence that was pronounced by the court. (Sent. Hrg. Trn. At 23, 24, 25 and 26). Additional objections were made to Condition 13 and its subsections that concern certain financial obligations of the Appellant. These financial obligation objections were grant by the Court. All other conditions were objected to base upon being over broad and constitutionally impaired. The sentence pronounced by the Court was a five-year sentence to Montana State Prison with all of that time suspended. (Sen. Hrg. Trn. At 44). The Court modified various aspects of Condition 13 and its financial aspects and adopted over the

objections of the Appellant's attorney "Conditions #26,27 and 28. (Sent. Hrg. Trn. At at 33, 34 and 35. The appellant remains on community supervision as of the time and appeals the decision of the Court.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

In April of 2022, the Cascade County Attorney's office charged the appellant, Nicholas Adams Wells, in a filed information with Count 1: STRANGULATION OF A PARTNER OR FAMILY MEMBER and Count 2: PARTNER OR FAMILY MEMBER ASSUALT ( 3<sup>rd</sup> or SUBSEQUENT OFFENSE) a Felony.(D.C. Doc 3) All of which were the result of an altercation with the appellant's significant other and who is the mother of his children. All of the alleged events occurred in Cascade County, Montana.

A plea agreement was executed by the relevant parties, which by its terms and conditions the appellant would plead guilty to one count of PARTNER OR FAMILY MEMBER ASSUALT (3<sup>rd</sup> or SUBSEQUENT OFFENSE) A felony. (D.C. Doc. 18)

As consideration for the dismissal of Count 1 of the information, the appellant agreed to plead guilty to Count 2 (*supra*) of the information and understood that the State would recommend the maximum amount of

time provided by statute for this offense but would not ask that the appellant be designated a persistent felony offender.

A change of plea hearing was held, with the Court accepting the plea of guilty of the appellant and set a sentencing hearing date. The Court also, ordered a Presentence Investigation Report be completed by the Department of Corrections. Said report was completed, which include a list of standard and specific conditions for the Court to order as part of any suspended sentence. (D.C. Doc. 21)

The PSI included statements made by its author that the Appellant had fail to take responsibility for his actions and blamed the victim. (D.C. Doc. 21, PSI report, at 3). At the sentencing hearing, Appellant's attorney argued that the Appellant misunderstood the question and has taken responsibility for his actions. Further that his response was to identify the cause of the altercation. The Appellant stated that he felt bad about the incident and should have left the home. (Sent. Hrg. Trn, 20 and 21.)

At the sentencing hearing the State followed the terms of the plea agreement and asked for the stated sentence, which was 5 years, to the Montana State Prison with all of that time suspended and with the conditions outlined in the Presentence Report.

The Defense argued for a 6-year deferred imposition of sentence to facilitate the rehabilitation of the Appellant. Further arguing the higher possibility for achieving a change in the Appellant, with the longer term and bigger reward, if he achieves the objections of the treatment programs and community supervision. (Sen. Hr. Trn. At 37)

The terms of community supervision were discussed by both parties, with the defense counsel making numerous objections to conditions numbers: 13, 26, 27 and 28 as outlined in the Presentence Investigation Report These “Conditions covered the financial obligation of the appellant, searches of electronic devices, completion of certain not yet existent but named programs and disclosure of intimate partner relationships by the Appellant to his supervising officer. The objections include concerns for their constitutionality, over broadness and vagueness as to the consequences of a violation and relationship to the adopted MIIG.

Condition 26 of the PSI: “26. Probation officer may conduct a search of electronic devices, to include cell phone, personal computer, and social media, if reasonable suspicion exists that the Defendant is attempting to

contract the victim in violation of the Defendants conditions of supervision.” (PSI. at 10, D.C. Doc.20 at10.)

Appellant’s attorney argued that the condition is over broad in that even with reasonable suspicion the condition allows for the search of Appellant’s electronic devices that are not involved in the bases for the reasonable suspicion. The attorney argued that the best course of action would for a warrant should be obtained in which the officer would be obligated to identify which devices were involved. He further argued that “contact with a victim” is not in itself a crime and at best it could be a violation of a no contact order. The officer will more than likely know how if any contact was made and allowing to explore all devices is constitutional over broad and reasonable warrantless search.

Condition 27 of the PSI. “27. The Defendant must enter and complete a Victim Impact Listen and Learn Programming and Victim Impact Panel.” (PSI at 10, D.C. Doc 20 at 10).

At the sentencing hearing the Appellant’s attorney argue for his objection by indicating the 8<sup>th</sup>. Amendment of the United States Constitution would be violated in that without a showing that the program ordered is in fact rehabilitative and focused on the specific needs

of the Appellant it would be a cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the rights of the Appellant. It could very well be a shaming mechanism. The failure by the State to offer evidentiary support for the program makes it ordering a violation of the Appellant's rights. (Sent. Hrg. Tr. At 25.

The State in its rebuttal of the Defendant's objection goes further than the Appellant's attorney in downgrading the program by indicating that all to support the named program is the fact that it is part of a known program, the "Duluth Model". The prosecution goes on to defend the condition by indicating that the Department of Corrections may not even adopt the "Duluth Model" and create its own. This is based upon potential financial costs to the State. (Sent. Hrg. Tr. At 29 and 30.)

Condition 28 of the PSI. "28. The Defendant shall sign and abide by an Intimate Partner Disclosure and an Offensive Contact Contract provided by his/her Probation and Parole Officer if required by his supervising Officer." PSI at 10, D.C. Doc. 20 at 10.

The Appellant's attorney argued at sentencing that condition 28 interfered with the Appellant's right of freedom of speech and association as guaranteed under the 1<sup>st</sup>. Amendment of the United States

Constitution. It allows for a third party to chill that right as the condition expects that all intimate association, one night stands etc. be reported to the probation officer. A failure to do so could result in a violation of this term and condition. (Sent. Hrg. Tr. At 26.)

The attorney at sentencing as to all of the conditions objected to above argues that the failure of MIIG to cover these specific conditions makes this judgment vague. This is so because the Appellant does not know if any violation of these 3 conditions “compliance or noncompliance violation” is. He further argued that the lack of being part of the specific conditions under the MIIG leaves these conditions without statutory authority. (Sent. Hrg. Tr. At 26)

The Court, after hearing arguments from both the State and the Defense, granted the Defenses objection to certain financial obligations out lined in the paragraphs of “Condition 13”. Said approval being done without the objection of the State.

As to “PSI Conditions” 26, 27, and 28, the Court chooses to adopt and order them as part of his sentence. The oral pronouncement by the Court from the bench is not fully enumerated in the final written

judgment that is signed by the Court, as to PSI condition number 28, even though all of the conditions were adopted by reference.

The adopted PSI conditions that are contested as part of this appeal are as follows:

Department of Corrections Presentence Report Dated: 9-13-2022  
provided on Page 8: “RECOMMENDED SPECIAL CONDITIONS:

“.....

26. Probation and Parole Officer may conduct a search of electronic devices to include, cell phone, personal computer, and social media, if reasonable suspicion exists that the Defendant is attempting to contact the victim in violation of the Defendants conditions of supervision.

27. The Defendant must enter and complete a Victim Impact Listen and Learn Programming and Victim Impact Panel.

28. The Defendant shall sign and abide by an Intimate Partner Disclosure and Offensive Contact Contract provided by his/her Probation and Parole Officer if required by his supervising officer.”

### STANDARDS OF REVIEW

The Court reviews probation conditions “under a dual standard of review: we first review de novo the legality of the probation conditions; we then review the conditions’ reasonableness for abuse of discretion.” *State v. Bonacorsi*, 2022 MT 86N, 409 Mont. 554 (citing *State v. Stiles*, 2008 MT 390, 347 Mont. 95).

The Bonacorsi Court stated that may reverse a statutorily authorized sentencing condition if it lacks some “nexus” to the underlying offense or offender or it is ‘overly broad or unduly punitive, citing *State V. Bullplume, 2013 MT 169 Paragraph 18, 370 Mont 453.*

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

**Issue 1:** Condition # 26 allows for an unconstitutional search and seizure of the Appellant’s electronic devices by allowing additional searching of non-contacted electronic devices based upon an allegation of contact via one electronic device. The overboard language of the condition opens the Appellant to searches for which there has been no articulated suspension for any wrongdoing as to the use of that other device.

**Issue 2:** The language of condition #27 of the PSI as ordered by the sentencing Court, fails to meet the statutory sentencing policy of this State in that all sentences must be “timely, consistent and understandable”. The program being ordered may or may not be available to the Appellant at the time of sentencing and leaves to the probation officer/department of corrections the courts statutory obligation to sentence the Appellant. The lack of specific disclosure of a

program that is in place violates the law of this State that requires that be a nexus between the condition and the Appellant. This requirement cannot be determined if there is no specific program to be evaluated by the Court at the time of sentencing.

Issue3: The terms of Condition #28 of the PSI allows for the direct infringement of the fundamental right of freedom of association. This infringement is permissible when there is some articulable nexus between the condition and the case or the Appellant. The information before the sentencing Court indicated that it that condition #28 requiring the Appellant sign on to the Intimate Partner Disclosure and an Offensive Contact Contract was for sex offenders and their management. The condition lacks nexus to the case and this defendant in that there was no criminal history or facts of this case that contacted the Appellant to any sexual misconduct either by act or criminal conviction. The lack of nexus and the lack of clarity as to the rehabilitation affects for the Appellant make it a statutory as well as a constitutional violation of the Appellant's rights.

## ARGUMENT

**ISSUE: 1. Is the Court’s adoption of condition #26, as written, allowing for “the search of electronic devices, to include cell phone, personal computer and social media, if reasonable suspicion exists to believe that the Appellant has contacted his victim is an overboard and unconstitutional violation of the Appellant’s rights against unreasonable searches and seizures.**

It is well settled law that the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article II, section 11 of the Montana State Constitution guarantees the people of this State to right to be free from all unreasonable searches and seizures of their person, houses, and personal items. For which they have a reasonable expectation of privacy. *U.S. Const. Amend. IV; Mont. Const. Art. II, Sec.11.* Additionally, *Article II, section 10 of the Montana Constitution* affords broader as well as greater protections one’s privacy by guaranteeing the right to “individual privacy.” *Mont. Const. Art.II section10*; see also *State v. Solis* 214 Mont. (Mont310, 319, 693 P.12d. 518, 533 (1984). *Const. art. II Sec.10 right to privacy.* “is the cornerstone of (the) protection [ ] against unreasonable searches and seizures” under *Mont. Const. art. II Sec. 11*).

“Except under recognized and narrowly stated exceptions”, warrantless searches are per se unreasonable. *State v. Peoples*, 2022 MT. 4, 407 Mont. 84, 502 P3rd 129. Since about 1988 this court has cut out a special needs’ exception for a probation search. *State v. Burke*, 235 Mont. 165, 169 766 P2d 254, 256 (1988).

Given the state of the law at this time there is no disagreement that the right of privacy of a probationer is diminished while one is under supervision, **but it is not done away with.** (emphasize *added*). *State v. Moody*, 2006 MT 305 Paea. 27., 334 Mont. 517, 148P.3d. 662 This particularly true given that his Court has cut out a narrow exception to this right, when there is “reasonable cause to suspect under all articulated facts and given the totality of the situation that a violation of the conditions of probation has happened...” *Peoples*, Para. 17(*supra*) 407 Mont. At101: *Griffin v. Wisconsin*, 483 U.S. 868, 873, 107 S.Ct.3164,3168, 97 L.ed.2d 709 (1987).

This is not the legal position the prosecution started from and from which the conditions in this case were adopted over the objections of Appellant’s Counsel at the sentencing hearing.

The prosecution in his opening gambit and discussion of the

objections by the defense to the proposed conditions sets out the boundaries of the constitutional rights of the Defendant and the tone of that discussion in the prosecution's mind by arguing to the Court, that he would have no constitutional rights if the Court sentenced him to prison. He states: "Okay. So, when Mr. Kuntz, (defendant's lower court attorney) argues that, "quote, these conditions would violate his constitutional rights, the Court could sentence him to the Montana State Prison for the entire term, which would prevent him from having any of those rights. ..." (Sen. Hr. Trn. At 27 at line 5)

And further the State's position is clearly stated, when discussing Condition #26 when he states "...is a condition of his probation a condition of **grace (*emphasis added*)** granted by the State, by this **court, can violate his constitutional right when he's basically - his constitutional rights are suspended and are abrogated by his conviction...**" (Sen. Hr. Trn. At 28 line 18).

The implication being that the Defendant should accept what ever is offered for conditions because he is a whole lot better off that if he was in prison. Further, that as a probationer he basically has no constitutional rights that are not suspended and done away with. This

is a thin and grandiose legal argument give this courts existing opinions and the opinions of the United State Supreme Court particularly in the area of searches.

In the non-published case of *State v. Woody*, 2021 MT 38N which cites the publish cases of *State v. Fisher*, 2014 MT 112 and *State Moody* 3006 Mt. 305 went out of its way to acknowledge the differences in expectations of the Defendant between one that is incarcerated and one on probation. The Court clearly distinguished the diminished expectation of one right for the probation from the “no expectation of the incarcerated.”

These Court’s found that even though diminished the rights of the probationer do exist and not simply at the level that the State and the prosecution wants to set, as to the opinion held by the prosecution in this matter. The *Moody*, (*supra*), court in its opinion summed up the issue up succinctly: at page 11 of the opinion when it stated: While supervised probationers necessarily have diminished expectation of privacy due the nature of probation and the compelling government interests involved, their probation **status does not completely deprive** (*emphasis added*)

them of any right to privacy.” It is to the level of diminishment that the objections raised by trial counsel really addresses.

As to the first issue in this matter, is the Court’s adoption of “special condition” # 26 of the Presentence Investigation Report, (herein after referred to as the *PSI*), which allows for the search of electronic devices, to include cell phone, personal computer and social media, if reasonable suspicion exists to believe that the Appellant has contracted his victim is an over board and unconstitutional violation of the Appellant’s rights against unreasonable searches and seizures, the Appellant argues that the extent of a search as allowed by the broad language of the condition is a violation of his rights as provided for under the constitutions of the State of Montana and the United States and relevant case law.

The crux of the problem is that the language of the condition is focused on the contact not on the method of contact. The reasonable suspicion as outlined in the condition allows for all of the electronic devices of the Appellant to be searched regardless of whether or not that particular device might be the source of or method of contact.

The United States Supreme Court has on many occasions protected the Probationer from unreasonable searches, *Griffin v. Wisconsin*, 483 U.S. 868, 107 S. Ct. 3164, 97 L.Ed. 2<sup>nd</sup> 709 (1987)

“In Montana there must be a factual foundation for any warrantless/probationary search and the search must not be used as an instrument of harassment or intimidation.” *State v. Fischer*, 2014 Mt 112 Para. 11, 374 Mont. 533, 323 P. ed. 891 (citing *State v. Burke*, 235 Mont. 165, 171, 766 P2. 254, 257 (1988) . *Fischer (supra)* sets the baseline for any search when the court states that whether reasonable grounds exist is a factual inquiry determined by the totality of the circumstances. *Fischer* Para11 (*supra*).

The way that condition #26 of the PSI is written the facts that lead to only one device should not automatically lead to all the devices own by the Appellant, for the purposes of a warrantless search. The Montana Supreme Court in *Peoples*, ((*supra*))(citing *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S.1,17-21, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 1878-80, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968) clearly state that the “scope and duration of a warrantless search or seizure “must be strictly tied to and justified by the circumstances which rendered... [it] permissible.”

The Montana Supreme Court in *State v. Zeimer*, 2022 MT 96, 510 P.3d.100 stated that, the scope of a search or seizure may only be lawfully expanded “upon development of a new or expanded particularized suspicion of criminal activity based on additional specific and articulable facts” [.]

Condition #26 as written allows for the probation officer to start with a device that he was told or knows was used by the Appellant to contact the victim in his case and leap frog that particularized suspicion into a search of all of the devices of the Appellant without being able to articular new and additional specific facts as required by this Court in *Zeimer*, ((*supra*)).

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