#### 03/19/2024

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 22-0668

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 22-0668

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

NICHOLAS WELLS,

Defendant and Appellant.

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

On Appeal from the Montana Eighth Judicial District Court, Cascade County, The Honorable David J. Grubich, Presiding

#### **APPEARANCES:**

AUSTIN KNUDSEN Montana Attorney General BRAD FJELDHEIM Assistant Attorney General 215 North Sanders P.O. Box 201401 Helena, MT 59620-1401 Phone: 406-444-2026

Brad.Fjeldheim@mt.gov

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

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The district court had statutory authority to impose the special conditions recommended in the PSI and correctly exercised its discretion to impose them.

The three conditions that Wells has challenged were part of the DOC's

Duluth Model batterers intervention programming, which Wells agreed to

complete as part of his plea agreement, and Wells cannot escape the obligations of
his plea bargain after accepting its benefits.

Moreover, the district court explained how all three conditions were reasonably related to Wells's rehabilitation and the protection of society and the victim based on Wells's recent and chronic domestic violence. The limited and specific search provision for electronic devices in condition 26 served to protect the vital sentencing purpose of preventing any contact with the victim. The specifically named programming mandates in condition 27 provided Wells an opportunity to understand the impact his chronic violence has had on his victims. The intimate partner and offensive contact disclosures in condition 28 of the PSI

provided probation officers a tool to prevent Wells from entering into new violent domestic relationships and to protect potential victims from his chronic domestic abuse.

This Court should affirm these sentencing conditions. The district court correctly exercised its broad sentencing authority to impose them because they have a sufficient nexus to Wells and his domestic violence offenses.

#### **ARGUMENT**

The district court correctly denied Wells's challenges to his sentencing conditions because they do not exceed statutory or regulatory parameters and have a nexus to the offense and rehabilitation.

#### A. Standard of review

This Court first reviews "sentencing conditions for legality to determine whether the conditions fall within statutory parameters . . . then review[s] the reasonableness of the conditions imposed under §§ 46-18-201(4) and -202(1), MCA, for an abuse of discretion." *State v. Parkhill*, 2018 MT 69, ¶ 9, 391 Mont. 114, 414 P.3d 1244.

## B. Applicable law

A sentencing court has broad discretion to impose a sentence within statutory range. *State v. Garrymore*, 2006 MT 245, ¶ 29, 334 Mont. 1, 145 P.3d 946 (citing *United States v. Booker*, 543 U.S. 220 (2005)). Due to this discretion,

this Court's review is correspondingly deferential. *State v. Bullplume*, 2013 MT 169, ¶ 18, 370 Mont. 453, 305 P.3d 753.

Upon conviction, a sentencing court may suspend execution of sentence for a period up to the maximum sentence allowed. Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-201(2)(a) (2021). The court may impose "any reasonable restrictions or conditions" during the suspension period. Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-201(4) (2021). Those conditions include "any other reasonable restrictions or conditions considered necessary for rehabilitation or for the protection of the victim or society," Mont. Code Ann. §§ 46-18-201(4)(p), -202(1)(g) (2021), and standard conditions authorized by administrative rule. Mont. Code Ann. § 46-23-1002(3) (2021); Mont. Admin. R. 20.7.1101(9). In addition to these acceptable conditions, the district court has authority to "include restrictions on the offender's freedom of association and freedom of movement." *Bullplume*, ¶ 18; *see also* Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-202(1)(c)-(d).

The judge's discretion is not unlimited, however, and the conditions "must relate to rehabilitation or protection of society within the particular context of an offender's crime or the unique background, characteristics, or conduct of the offender." *State v. Zimmerman*, 2010 MT 44, ¶ 17, 355 Mont. 286, 228 P.3d 1109. A district court "may impose offender-related conditions only in those cases in which the history or pattern of conduct to be restricted is recent, and significant or

chronic." *State v. Ashby*, 2008 MT 83, ¶ 15, 342 Mont. 187, 179 P.3d 1164. This Court will affirm a statutorily authorized condition if it "has some correlation or connection—i.e., nexus—to the underlying offense or to the offender." *Bullplume*, ¶ 18. This Court will reverse the imposition of a condition if it "is 'overly broad or unduly punitive,' or if the required nexus is 'absent or exceedingly tenuous." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Melton*, 2012 MT 84, ¶ 18, 364 Mont. 482, 276 P.3d 900; *Zimmerman*, ¶ 17).

1. All of Wells's objections are undermined by his express agreement to complete a DOC batterers intervention program based on the Duluth Model.

Wells ignores that in his plea agreement he agreed to "successfully complete the Batterers Intervention Program under a Duluth Model Program operated by or approved by the Montana Department of Corrections within the first two years of sentence." (Doc. 18 at 4.) Wells acknowledged during the change of plea hearing that in exchange for his guilty plea by *Alford* the State would recommend a condition that Wells "successfully complete a Duluth Model Batterer's Intervention Course within the first two years of the sentence." (8/4/22 Tr. at 6.) During the sentencing hearing, Wells's counsel explained that "[Wells] agrees with the Duluth Model. That is something that he stipulated as part of our agreement. We are asking that the Court impose that as a condition, Your Honor." (*Id.* at 40.)

In response to Wells's objections during the sentencing hearing, the State explained that conditions 26, 27, and 28 were part of the Duluth Model programming offered by the DOC. (9/21/22 Tr at 27.) This Court has long held that it will not lend its assistance to an accused criminal in escaping the obligations of a plea bargain after accepting its benefits. *See, e.g.,* State v. Bowley, 282 Mont. 298, 310, 938 P.2d 592, 599 (1997); State v. Sattler, 170 Mont. 35, 37, 549 P.2d 1080, 1081 (1976); State v. Nance, 120 Mont. 152, 166, 184 P.2d 554, 561 (1947). This Court should affirm the district court's imposition of conditions 26, 27, and 28 because Wells agreed to complete a Duluth Model Batterers Intervention Course in exchange for the State's dismissal of the strangulation charge and a wholly suspended five-year sentence recommendation. *See id*.

2. The district court correctly imposed condition 26 over Wells's objection because it is not unconstitutionally overbroad.

The district court had statutory authority to impose any reasonable condition necessary for Wells's rehabilitation or the protection of the victim and society.

See Mont. Code Ann. §§ 46-18-201(4), -202(1)(g). The foundation for condition 26 is the district court's order that Wells have no contact with the victim, which was imperative to the plea agreement and the sentence imposed. Wells entered into

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The district court, pursuant to Wells's request, included an exception to the no contact order for efforts necessary to negotiate a parenting plan. (9/21/22 Tr. at 45; Doc. 25 at 2.)

a plea agreement with the express understanding that he would not contact the victim. The district court consistently expressed the importance of this promise during both the change of plea hearing when it released Wells on his own recognizance and the sentencing hearing when it imposed condition 26 in conjunction with a wholly suspended five-year sentence.

Crafting condition 26 around this imperative sentencing purpose served to both protect the victim and rehabilitate Wells because it helped prevent future incidents. See Zimmerman, ¶ 17. The search provision reasonably allowed a probation officer a means to address any offensive contact with the victim before it resulted in a potentially violent encounter. It was a reasonable condition for Wells due to his recent, significant, and chronic history of violence against the victim and his previous partners. See Ashby, ¶ 15. To support its conclusion, the district court correctly considered Wells's history of domestic violence and the impact on the victim of both the felony PFMA, third offense, which Wells pleaded guilty to, and the strangulation charge against Wells that the State dismissed pursuant to the plea agreement. See State v. Hill, 2009 MT 134, ¶ 31, 350 Mont. 296, 207 P.3d 307 (a sentencing court may consider any relevant evidence in a defendant's background, including conduct underlying charges dismissed pursuant to a plea agreement).

Wells has based his argument on constitutional authority that explains the reasonable suspicion standard for warrantless probation searches. (Br. at 16-23.)

But the constitutional search standard alone does not show condition 26 is overly broad. As the district court correctly explained, any search pursuant to the condition still has to be supported by a reasonable suspicion that Wells attempted to contact the victim in violation of his sentence and conditions. (*Id.* at 33-35.) To the extent the condition could violate this constitutional standard as it relates to Wells, this Court has affirmed conditions that compromise constitutional rights if the condition was reasonably related to the objectives of rehabilitation or the protection of the victim or society based on the offense, the offender, and the totality of the circumstances. *See, e.g., Melton,* ¶ 23-28 (rejecting an argument that a condition that prohibited a sex offender from being unsupervised in places where children congregated even if he was with his own children was overly broad because it violated his freedom of movement and right to parent).

Moreover, condition 26 is limited by its specific terms, which undermines Wells's argument. As the district court explained, the condition is premised solely on any attempt by Wells to contact the victim in violation of his sentence, it provides Wells notice of specific electronic items subject to search, and the specified items "are often the tools that are used to initiate contact." (*Id.* at 33-35.) These limitations distinguish condition 26 from those that this Court has found unconstitutionally broad, harsh, or severe. *See, e.g.*, *State v. Muhammad*, 2002 MT 47, ¶ 28, 309 Mont. 1, 43 P.3d 318 (concluding that the banishment condition was

unnecessarily broad and severe); *State v. Herd*, 2004 MT 85, ¶¶ 24-25, 320 Mont. 490, 87 P.3d 1017 (concluding that the 40-year driving prohibition was unreasonable in terms of its harshness and duration); *State v. Hotchkiss*, 2020 MT 269, ¶ 18, 402 Mont. 1, 474 P.3d 1273 (concluding conditions prohibiting possession of all electronic devices without probation approval was overly broad when offense did not involve an electronic device).

This Court should affirm the district court's imposition of condition 26 because it is reasonably related to the objectives of rehabilitation and the protection of society and is not overbroad or unduly punitive. See Zimmerman, ¶ 17; Bullplume, ¶ 18.

# 3. The district court correctly imposed condition 27 over Wells's objections.

Wells objected to condition 27 on multiple grounds below, but the only preserved argument he has pursued on appeal is that the condition is unconstitutionally overbroad because it does not have a sufficient nexus to the offense. (9/21/22 Tr at 24-27; Br. at 23-26.) The entirety of Wells's argument on appeal is rooted in "vagueness" based on his assertion that the condition does not sufficiently specify the programming required. (Br. at 25.) Condition 27 is not vague. It plainly states that Wells "must enter and complete a Victim Impact Listen and Learn Programming and Victim Impact Panel." (Doc. 25 at 7.)

The district court had statutory authority to impose any reasonable condition necessary for Wells's rehabilitation or the protection of the victim and society. *See* Mont. Code Ann. §§ 46-18-201(4), -202(1)(g). Wells ignores the district court's reasoning, which supports the nexus between Wells's violent offenses and the programming specified in condition 27. The district court explained, "I think that any person who's committed a crime, especially a crime of violence, in domestic violence, would benefit, and actually learn something listening to how violence impacts victims, or how other crimes impact victims." (9/21/22 Tr. at 35.) The district court relied on Wells's unique background, characteristics, and conduct to show that the specific programming in condition 27 was objectively related to both Wells's rehabilitation and the protection of society and the victim. *See Zimmerman*, ¶ 17.

Wells has repeatedly argued that the "Duluth Model" programming is uncertain or may be nonexistent in Montana. (Br. at 23-31.) The record shows these programs do exist. Wells's plea agreement was premised on the State's recommendation that Wells complete this programming—the State will recommend that Wells "successfully complete the Batterers Intervention Program under a Duluth Model Program operated by or approved by the Montana department of Corrections within the first two years of sentence." (Doc. 18 at 4.) Wells's trial counsel specifically informed the district court that "[Wells] agrees

with the Duluth Model." (9/21/22 Tr. at 40.) The probation officers who drafted and reviewed the PSI specifically recommended the DOC programming in conditions 27 and 28. (Doc. 22 at 10.) Wells's asserted ignorance of the DOC programs is not grounds for him to avoid his obligation under the plea agreement. *See Bowley*, 282 Mont. at 310, 938 P.2d at 599 (this Court "will not lend its assistance to an accused criminal in escaping his or her obligations of a plea bargain after accepting its benefits").

Wells has provided nothing to support his argument that condition 27 violates Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-101(3)(a), which requires a punishment to be "certain." Wells misinterprets the State's sentencing argument. (*See* Br. at 23-24.) The State explained that the "Victim Impact Listen and Learn" and "Victim Impact Panel" programs are part of the DOC Duluth Model programs, which Wells agreed to in the plea agreement, and that the DOC has renamed the programs to avoid licensing problems. (9/21/22 Tr. at 29-30.) The State did not say the DOC may rename the programs in the future. (*Id.*) The simple directive in condition 27 does not allow the DOC "to substitute something in the future" or place the district court "in the position of delegating its authority to the probation officer." (Br. at 25-26.) Wells cannot show condition 27 is uncertain or impossible to perform, which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Wells did not object on this ground below. (9/21/22 Tr. at 24-27.) But the State has addressed it to the extent it may be considered in support of his preserved argument that condition 27 was unconstitutionally overbroad. (*Id.*)

would be necessary to support his argument. *See* Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-101(3)(a); *State v. Cook*, 2012 MT 34, ¶ 13, 364 Mont. 161, 272 P.3d 50 (a sentencing condition that is impossible to complete is illegal and should be struck from the sentence).

This Court should affirm the district court's imposition of condition 27 because the specific DOC programming is tailored to Wells and his offenses, and Wells has failed to show that it is unconstitutionally overbroad. *See Bullplume*, ¶ 18.

## 4. The district court correctly imposed condition 28 in the PSI over Wells's objections.

The district court had statutory authority to impose any reasonable condition necessary for Wells's rehabilitation or the protection of the victim and society. See Mont. Code Ann. §§ 46-18-201(4), -202(1)(g). The district court correctly relied on Wells's history of domestic violence and the violent acts against the victim in this case to support the imposition of condition 28. See Hill, ¶ 31; Zimmerman, ¶ 17; Ashby, ¶ 15.

As the district court explained, condition 28 provided a tool to probation officers that served both Wells's rehabilitation by preventing future domestic violence encounters that may lead to further criminal charges and the protection of society by informing probation and parole about any person who may be a victim of Wells's domestic abuse in the future. (9/21/22 Tr. at 35.) The district court

further explained that the condition was reasonable for Wells due to his recent, significant, and chronic history of violence against the victim and his previous partners. This meets the nexus standard for special conditions that must be reasonably related to an offender's rehabilitation or the protection of society and the victim. *See Zimmerman*,  $\P$  17; *Ashby*,  $\P$  15.

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